RECEIVED

Jul 19 2021

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Dorchester County
Court of Common Pleas

James E. Chellis, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2016-CP-18-01812
Appellate Case No. 2020-001029

David Hannemann,
as President of the Live
Oak Village Homeowner's
Association, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

William McFarland,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
P.O. Box 993 (29402)
(843) 720-5488

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. With respect to the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment, specifically, Mr. Hannemann's¹ motion for summary judgment as to all claims, i.e., for summary judgment as to all his claims against Mr. McFarland² and all Mr. McFarland's claims against him, and Mr. McFarland's motion for partial summary judgment, i.e., for summary judgment only as to Mr. Hannemann's claims against him, not his claims against Mr. Hannemann, did the master err in granting Mr. Hannemann's motion and denying Mr. McFarland's motion?**
- A. As an initial matter,³ did the master err in disallowing Mr. McFarland's Supplemental Submission?⁴**
- B. Should the master have granted Mr. McFarland's motion and denied Mr. Hannemann's motion, or at least denied Mr. Hannemann's motion (if not in whole, in part) because he is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law under the governing legal standard?⁵**
- II. Did the master have jurisdiction to prohibit other HOA⁶ members, i.e., not Messrs. Hannemann and McFarland but other HOA members who**

¹ "Mr. Hannemann" is Plaintiff/Respondent, David Hannemann.

² "Mr. McFarland" is Defendant/Appellant, William McFarland.

³ To be clear, by presenting this sub-issue (and the argument thereon) first, Mr. McFarland does not mean to suggest that it is dispositive of Issue/Argument I.

⁴ As further explained, *infra*, "Mr. McFarland's Supplemental Submission," or simply the "Supplement," refers to the supplemental briefing and exhibits he submitted in further support of his motion for summary judgment and opposition to Mr. Hannemann's.

⁵ As expressly identified in the argument thereon, this sub-issue comprises numerous errors directed toward the same end, i.e., the erroneous determination of the parties' summary judgment motions, to include the incorrect application of the summary judgment standard and other principles of law, the misapprehension of evidence and issues/arguments, and the failure to rule on issues/arguments duly presented.

⁶ The "HOA" is Live Oak Village Homeowners Association, Inc.

are not parties to this action, from exercising their rights in respect of requesting/calling special HOA meetings?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background: the Subdivision, the HOA, and the Parties

Live Oak Village (the “Subdivision”) is a small residential subdivision in Summerville comprising seven single-family homes and some common areas. (*See* R. pp. 65, 381, 412, 444, 594.)

The HOA is a South Carolina nonprofit corporation that manages the business of the Subdivision’s homeowners association. (*See* R. p. 57 § 7; R. p. 65 § 1.) In short, it administers and enforces the Subdivision’s “Governing Documents,” namely, the Subdivision’s declaration of covenants and restrictions (the “Covenants”⁷) and the HOA’s articles of incorporation (the “Articles”) and bylaws (the “Bylaws”). (*See* R. pp. 57–59 §§ 7–8; R. pp. 69–71, § 6.)

Like all homeowners in the Subdivision (technically, in the language of the Governing Documents, like all “Lot” “Owners” in the Subdivision), Messrs. Hannemann and McFarland, and their respective spouses (co-owners), are members of the HOA. (*Compare* R. p. 98 ¶¶ 6–7 *with* R. p. 113 ¶¶ 6–7; *see also* R. p. 66, § 2(A) (providing that all persons defined as “Owners” in the Covenants are members of the HOA); R. p. 415 § 1.18 (defining “Owner” to mean every owner of fee simple

⁷ As further explained, *infra*, the Subdivision’s operative Covenants are not set forth in its “Original Declaration” but rather in an “Amended Declaration.”

title to a “Lot” within the Subdivision); R. p. 415 § 1.14 (defining “Lot” to mean any parcel of real property within the Subdivision intended for single-family use).)

The HOA’s affairs are governed by a three-member board of directors (collectively, the “Board,” with each individual member a “Director”). (*See* R. p. 67 § 4(A).) Directors are elected by the HOA membership. (*See* R. pp. 67–68 § 4(B).) HOA business is carried out by corporate officers (e.g., president, secretary, treasurer) who are elected by the Board. (*See* R. p. 71 § 7.) The HOA president is the HOA’s chief executive officer. (R. p. 71 § 7(B).)

B. Mr. Hannemann’s claims against Mr. McFarland

Claiming himself, not Mr. McFarland, to be the rightfully elected HOA president, and that Mr. McFarland was wrongfully denying him the office and the corporate records, bank information, and checkbook attendant thereto, Mr. Hannemann brought this action on September 9, 2016, in the Court of Common Pleas, Dorchester County,⁸ seeking, in pertinent part, an order declaring him HOA president and requiring Mr. McFarland to deliver/relinquish to him the corporate records and control of the HOA’s finances. (*See* R. pp. 47–55; *see also* R. p. 376 at Resp. No. 30.)⁹

⁸ (*See* R. pp. 46–55.)

⁹ By consent order filed August 18, 2017, the case was referred to the Dorchester County Master-in-Equity, the Honorable James E. Chellis. (R. pp. 1–2.)

Mr. Hannemann traces his claim to the HOA presidency to an alleged annual meeting of the HOA membership on May 17, 2015, and a subsequent Board meeting on May 29, 2015. According to Mr. Hannemann, he, along with two other homeowners, Thomas Morris (“Mr. Morris”) and Donna Knight (“Ms. Knight”), was duly elected to the Board at the annual HOA meeting on May 17, 2015, and then duly elected HOA president at the Board meeting on May 29, 2015. (*See* R. p. 51 ¶¶ 20–21; R. p. 83; R. pp. 84–85.) He further claims that he was duly re-elected HOA president the following year at an alleged Board meeting on or about May 20, 2016. (*See* R. p. 41 ¶¶ 23–24; R. pp. 84–85.)

C. Mr. McFarland’s claims against Mr. Hannemann

Mr. McFarland duly answered Mr. Hannemann’s complaint, denying its material allegations and raising a number of affirmative defenses. (*See* R. pp. 86–91.) Additionally, based on the allegations explained below¹⁰—which he supported via the evidence cited herein—Mr. McFarland counterclaimed for the following:

- 1. A judicial declaration that, as a declarant who subjected real property to the Covenants, he (and, for that matter, Mrs. McFarland) has the rights and protections associated with the terms “Developer” and “Declarant” under the Governing Documents**

The HOA was formed September 27, 2002, by incorporator John R. Payne (“Mr. Payne”), principal of both Oak Village Development, LLC (“OVD”), and

¹⁰ (*See* R. pp. 97-109.)

LowCountry Signature Homes, Inc. (“LCSH”), and one of the two initial HOA officers and Directors. (*See* R. pp. 56–62, 410, 441.)

The Original Declaration was recorded in the Dorchester County land office on October 8, 2002, and in it, OVD purported to own all the real property in the Subdivision, i.e., every one of the seven single-family lots therein (specifically, the lots identified as “Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7” in the property description that the Original Declaration refers to as “Exhibit ‘A’”) and all of the common areas, and purported to declare all this real property subject to the Covenants. (*See* R. p. 384 §§ 1.20, 1.22, 1.23; R. p. 594; *see also* R. p. 444.)

OVD, however, did not actually own all the real property it purported to declare subject to the Covenants. By deed dated October 4, 2002, the McFarlands had taken title to their lot (Lot 3) four days before the Original Declaration was recorded,¹¹ and they were not parties to the Original Declaration. (*See* R. pp. 381–411.) It was not until November 26, 2002, when the McFarlands joined in recording the Amended Declaration, that their lot was properly declared subject to the Covenants. (*See* R. pp. 412–43.)

Although both the Original Declaration and the Amended Declaration designate OVD as the “Developer,” Mr. McFarland contends that this derives from the premise that the “Developer is the owner” of the real property declared subject to

¹¹ (*See* R. pp. 595–97; *see also* R. p. 444, 594.)

the Covenants, i.e., the real property on which the then-proposed Subdivision was to be created,¹² and that the designation “Developer” covers and entitles him (and, for that matter, Mrs. McFarland) to the rights and protections thereunto appertaining, because, again, in context, “Developer” is tied to the ownership of the real property declared subject to the Covenants, and the McFarlands are in fact such owners and declarants, and indeed their participation in the Amended Declaration was essential to the Subdivision’s creation. Likewise, notwithstanding the identification of OVD as the “Declarant” in the Bylaws,¹³ Mr. McFarland contends that he and Mrs. McFarland are covered by the term “Declarant.”

In further support of this claim, Mr. McFarland contends that he and Mrs. McFarland were essential to the completion of the plan of development for the Subdivision set forth in the Covenants. According to Mr. McFarland, with OVD either unable or unwilling to complete the plan, Mr. Payne appointed Mrs. McFarland the HOA’s registered agent in 2008,¹⁴ placed the McFarlands in charge of the HOA’s finances, and left it up to them to see that the remaining items in the plan of development were accomplished, which they were.¹⁵

¹² (See R. pp. 381–82, 412–13.)

¹³ (R. p. 65.)

¹⁴ (R. pp. 63–64.)

¹⁵ Among other things in this regard, the McFarlands discovered, and remedied, the fact that no tax returns had been filed on behalf of the HOA. (R. p. 598.)

2. A judicial declaration in favor of his HOA presidency

Without question, Mr. McFarland was duly elected to the Board and to the HOA presidency in 2009 and, as of on or about October 3, 2012, he remained the duly elected HOA president and, along with Messrs. Hannemann and Mr. Morris, a duly elected Director. (R. p. 50 ¶ 13.) On October 4, 2012, however, Messrs. Hannemann and Morris purported to hold a special Board meeting wherein they voted to remove Mr. McFarland as HOA president and elected themselves president and secretary, respectively. (R. p. 50 ¶ 13.) This prompted an earlier lawsuit (the “Original HOA Litigation”),¹⁶ which is in fact still pending on appeal to this Court. *See* Appellate Case No. 2019-000644.

Among other claims, the plaintiffs in the Original HOA Litigation seek declaratory and injunctive relief against Messrs. Hannemann and Morris, alleging that they caused the HOA to become dysfunctional. (*See* R. pp. 454–58.)

There were no HOA meetings in 2013 or 2014.

Mr. McFarland contends that, at the time that the HOA became dysfunctional, he was the duly elected HOA president, and since it was the other two Directors (Messrs. Hannemann and Morris) who caused the dysfunction, he (Mr. McFarland) was the only Director authorized to conduct HOA business. Mr. McFarland further contends that, at all relevant times, he has properly and diligently continued to

¹⁶ (R. pp. 445–49.)

conduct the general and ordinary business of the HOA, including collecting annual assessments, maintaining the HOA's account at Bank of America, and securing/paying for various essential services for the HOA (e.g., common area maintenance),¹⁷ and that, excepting only Messrs. Hannemann and Morris, all other HOA members have acted in conformity therewith by timely paying their annual HOA assessments to Mr. McFarland for deposit into the HOA's bank account at Bank of America. (See R. pp. 646, 658, 669, 670.)¹⁸

Mr. McFarland contends that in both 2013 and 2014 Messrs. Hannemann and Morris failed to timely pay their annual HOA assessments, i.e., in both of these years, neither Mr. Hannemann nor Mr. Morris timely paid their HOA assessments to Mr. McFarland for deposit into the HOA's bank account at Bank of America; nor, for that matter, did they follow the procedure they would later follow with respect to the annual assessments Mr. McFarland sent out for 2015 and deposit payment directly into the HOA's account at Bank of America. (See R. pp. 475–76.) Instead, they “place[d] [their] annual assessment [payments] in escrow with [their] attorney.” (R. p. 470; *see also* R. p. 370 at Resps. No. 11–12; R. p. 372 at Resp. No. 18; R. p.

¹⁷ (See R. pp. 635–79; *see also* R. pp. 519–22.)

¹⁸ Without question, the HOA's account at Bank of America is its proper bank account. Though, to be clear, Mr. McFarland denies any impropriety, by alleging, as Mr. Hannemann does, that Mr. McFarland has improperly retained control of “*the* bank account of the [HOA]” (R. p. 52 ¶ 28 (emphasis added)), Mr. Hannemann necessarily concedes that the Bank of America account is the proper HOA bank account.

471.) Messrs. Hannemann and Morris did not make any payment to the HOA for their 2013 and 2014 annual HOA assessments until the spring of 2015, and even then, they paid only the \$1,000 principal amount for each year and did not pay the HOA the interest that Mr. McFarland contends had, pursuant to the Governing Documents, automatically accrued thereon for late payment. (*See* R. pp. 472–74; *see also* R. p. 371 at Resp. No. 15.)

3. A money judgment against Mr. Hannemann for breach of contract and/or conversion relating to his wrongful creation and use of a bank account in the name of the HOA

Since 2015, and unlike every other member of the HOA, Messrs. Hannemann and Morris have not paid the HOA any of the annual assessments Mr. McFarland has sent out (neither making payment to the HOA via Mr. McFarland nor via direct deposit into the HOA’s account at Bank of America) but have instead purported to make their own assessments, which they alone have paid into another account Mr. Hannemann opened at Wells Fargo. (*See* R. pp. 373–74 at Resp. No. 23; R. pp. 477–79 at Resps. No. 37, 40–41.)¹⁹

D. The Pendente Lite Order and the Summary Judgment Orders

On August 24, 2018, Mr. McFarland moved for summary judgment as to all of Mr. Hannemann’s claims against him. (R. pp. 349–62.) On April 19, 2019, Mr. Hannemann moved for summary judgment as to all claims in the action, both his

¹⁹ Mr. McFarland’s counterclaims also seek an award of attorney fees and costs and any such other and further relief the court deems proper. (*See* R. p. 110.)

against Mr. McFarland and Mr. McFarland's against him, and thereafter, on May 14, 2020, supplemented his motion with additional grounds. (R. pp. 489–513; R. pp. 551–56.)

On June 11, 2019, while the parties' respective motions for summary judgment were pending, the master entered a *pendente lite* order (the "Pendente Lite Order"), providing that § 3(B) of the Bylaws (regarding special HOA meetings) was suspended and, effectively, that no meeting special HOA meeting could be held without an order from the master. (*See* R. pp. 3–8.) The Pendente Lite Order was issued in response to a motion by Mr. Hannemann for an injunction or, alternatively, a temporary restraining order, to prevent a special HOA meeting from being held that "could result in Mr. McFarland purportedly being elected as an officer of the [HOA], as well as its president" and moot Mr. Hannemann's claims. (R. p. 531.) On June 21, 2019, Mr. McFarland timely moved for reconsideration of the Pendente Lite Order. (R. pp. 545–47.) The master denied the motion by order filed June 16, 2020. (R. pp. 9–10.) Mr. McFarland then timely appealed the Pendente Lite Order (and the master's denial of his motion to reconsider the same) by notice served July 16, 2020. (R. pp. 811–14.)

The master heard the parties' motions for summary judgment on June 16, 2020. (R. pp. 123–348.) Following the hearing, believing that the master had authorized the same (and that it was otherwise permissible, as the master had not

entered an order ruling on the parties' motions for summary judgment), Mr. McFarland submitted the Supplement, to which Mr. Hannemann objected. (R. pp. 563–71; R. pp. 618–29; R. pp. 680–90.)

On August 13, 2020, the master filed an order granting Mr. Hannemann's motion for summary judgment and denying Mr. McFarland's. (R. pp. 12–35.) In the order, the master found the Supplement "to lack a requisite basis." (R. p. 14 n.3.) Mr. McFarland timely moved for reconsideration on August 24, 2020. (R. pp. 699–717.) The master denied the motion by order filed August 28, 2020. (R. pp. 36–40.) Mr. McFarland then timely appealed the master's summary judgment orders, i.e., the principal order filed August 13, 2020, and the order denying reconsideration thereof, filed August 28, 2020, by notice served September 14, 2020. (R. pp. 815–19.)

By letter dated September 23, 2020, this Court advised that Mr. McFarland's appeals of the Pendente Lite Order and the summary judgment orders were consolidated.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and it is clear the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRCF. In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must

be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994). “[I]n cases,” like the instant case, “applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). Where questions of law are involved, “[t]his Court reviews all questions of law de novo.” *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 302, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009).

ARGUMENT

I. With respect to the parties’ cross-motions for summary judgment, the master erred in granting Mr. Hannemann’s motion and denying Mr. McFarland’s motion.

A. As an initial matter, the master erred in disallowing the Supplement.

The master’s principal summary judgment order states, “The Defendant filed a post hearing supplemental memorandum with additional evidentiary matters. For two reasons, I find these additional matters supplementing the record to lack a requisite basis. First, the records Defendant files come too late. Secondly, were these records timely, they are not relevant to the issues before me. Plaintiff’s opposition memorandum included a copy of the record of the hearing.” (R. pp. 14–15 n.3.)

The Supplement should not have been deemed too late. Due to the ongoing COVID-19 emergency, the June 16, 2020, summary judgment hearing was held remotely. Consequently, handing up additional material during the hearing was, if not impossible, certainly impractical.²⁰ This was especially problematic in regard to points the master raised *sua sponte*, such as Mr. McFarland’s supposed waiver of his objection to the disputed HOA and Board meetings (on which Mr. Hannemann stakes his claim to the HOA presidency) by non-attendance and the supposed applicability of the “emergency” exception in subsection (d) of § 8(C)(9) of the Articles to excuse Mr. Hannemann’s failure to get the HOA membership’s approval to bring this suit.

Indeed, during the hearing, the master indicated that Mr. McFarland’s counsel was allowed to supplement the record. (*See* R. pp. 125:1–126:13; *see also* R. p. 290:6–17 (“The Appellate Courts always mentions this preservation issue as a very difficult and complex one, and it is - - it does creep up on you. And when you think you have everything covered and all of a sudden, there’s a lack of preservation, and your client is going to say to you, what happened? But I will make sure, to the extent I can, Mr. Hines, that you’ll be able to preserve all of your issue for appeal that you need to appeal, if you want to appeal.”).) Moreover, when the matter of Mr.

²⁰ While perhaps technically possible to do so, stopping and starting the proceedings to circulate material via email would have been unduly cumbersome and inefficient.

McFarland supplementing the record was discussed after the hearing, at the time of Mr. Hannemann's submission of his proposed order to the master, the master indicated that he would allow Mr. McFarland to supplement the record. (*See* R. pp. 695–98.)

“An order is not final until it is written and entered by the clerk of court,” and “[u]ntil an order is written and entered by the clerk of court, the judge retains discretion to change his mind and amend his ruling accordingly.” *Bowman v. Richland Memorial Hospital.*, 335 S.C. 88, 91, 515 S.E.259, 261 (Ct. App. 1999). The master was certainly empowered to consider the Supplement, and his doing so posed no threat of undue prejudice to Mr. Hannemann, who had a full and fair opportunity to respond. (*See* R. pp. 680–90.) It was only Mr. McFarland who stood to suffer undue prejudice if the master did not consider the Supplement, and in the interest of justice, the master should have considered it. *Cf.* Rule 1, SCRCP (“These rules . . . shall be construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.”).

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