**IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Dorchester County  
Court of Common Pleas  
James E. Chellis, Master-in-Equity

---

**RECEIVED**

JUL 19 2021

**SC Court of Appeals**

---

Case No. 2016-CP-18-01812  
Appellate Case No. 2020-001029

---

David Hannemann, As President of the  
Live Oak Village Homeowner's Association, Inc.,

Respondent

v.

William McFarland,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
DAVID HANNEMANN**

---

**HOOD LAW FIRM, LLC**  
James B. Hood (SC #70212)  
Virginia R. Floyd (SC #101849)  
Deborah Harrison Sheffield, *Of Counsel* (SC # 2757)  
172 Meeting Street  
Post Office Box 1508  
Charleston, SC 29402

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

suspension of their voting rights, he waived any objection to the validity of the actions taken at those meetings.

\*\*\*\*

Nothing in the HOA governing documents or the law generally applicable to property owners associations makes it acceptable for McFarland to proclaim himself as the sole authority to operate the HOA. McFarland has no legal justification to unilaterally set assessments and impose late fees, then peremptorily declare that Hannemann was not in good standing, all while boycotting meetings and denying access to HOA records and finances. In the final analysis, irrespective of all the arguments, the defining points of law and fact are clear and undisputed. A member's voting rights cannot be suspended without affirmative Board action, and the Board has never taken any action to suspend Hannemann's voting rights. Accordingly, Hannemann is entitled to a declaration that he was duly elected as to the Board as a Director and to the office of President of the HOA, and that he is entitled to injunctive relief to compel McFarland to turn over/surrender the HOA records and finances.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO HANNEMANN ON MCFARLAND'S COUNTERCLAIMS.**

**A. McFarland cannot state a cause of action conversion or breach of contract in regards to Hannemann's actions, as the duly elected HOA Director/President, in opening a new HOA bank account for deposits of HOA assessments after McFarland refused to transfer or relinquish control of the existing HOA bank account.**

In his Amended Answer and Counterclaims, McFarland attempted to assert a cause of action for conversion or breach of contract based on Hannemann's establishment of a new HOA bank account into which he deposited HOA assessments paid by Hannemann and Morris. In light of the Trial Court's determination that Hannemann was the duly elected HOA President, the Trial Court correctly granted summary judgment to Hannemann on these counterclaims.

“‘Conversion’ is defined as the unauthorized assumption and exercise of the rights of ownership over goods or personal chattels belonging to another, to the alteration of their condition or to the exclusion of the rights of the owner.” Mullis v. Trident Emergency Physicians, 351 S.C. 503, 506–07, 570 S.E.2d 549, 550 (Ct. App. 2002). “In general, a breach of contract is defined as a failure without legal excuse to perform any promise which forms a whole or a part of a contract. A breach of contract may also include the refusal of a party to recognize the existence of the contract, or the doing of something inconsistent with its existence.” 30 S.C. Jur. *Contracts* § 65 (citations omitted).

In attempting to state a cause of action for conversion/breach of contract, McFarland alleges that the bank account over which he has retained control, as the self-proclaimed de facto/de jure HOA President, is the only “one true bank account,” and that Hannemann acted without authority when he opened a new HOA bank account and deposited assessments into that new account. [ROA 108; Amd. Answer ¶¶50-51.]

The key element to McFarland’s counterclaim(s) is an unauthorized action. To establish a claim for conversion, McFarland would have to establish title or right to the property, i.e., the HOA assessments. Crane v. Citicorp Nat’l Servs., Inc., 313 S.C. 70, 72, 437 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1993).<sup>15</sup> Since the Trial Court has ruled and declared that Hannemann was the duly elected President of the HOA, the claim for breach of contract/conversion fails as a matter of law. As recounted above, McFarland had no right of ownership or possession over the HOA assessments. Under the circumstances, the actions Hannemann and Morris took in opening the new account and depositing their assessments demonstrate that their actions were a reasonable and prudent (and in

---

<sup>15</sup> Superseded on other grounds by S.C. Code § 36–9–628 (Supp.2001).

all likelihood, necessary) response to McFarland's wrongful refusal to relinquish control over the existing HOA bank account.

**B. McFarland cannot state a cause of action for fees because he is not a "Declarant" or "Developer" within the meaning of the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions.**

Under the American Rule followed in South Carolina, the parties to a lawsuit generally bear the responsibility of paying their own attorneys' fees, and the prevailing party generally, cannot recover attorneys' fees and costs unless authorized by contract or statute. Maybank v. BB&T Corp., 416 S.C. 541, 580, 787 S.E.2d 498, 518 (2016); 2 S.C. Jur. *Attorney Fees* § 2; Trial Handbook for South Carolina Lawyers § 36:14 (4th ed.). McFarland requested attorney's fees and costs under two provisions in the HOA governing documents. Section 8.7 of the Covenants, provides for "Remedies for Violation of Restrictions," and states: "Should the Developer or Association employ counsel to enforce any of the foregoing covenants, conditions, reservations or restrictions, because of a breach of the same, all costs incurred in such enforcement, including a reasonable fee for the Developer's or Association's counsel, shall be paid by the Owner of such Lot(s) in breach thereof." [ROA 408-409.] Section 15(D) of the By-Laws contains a corollary provision, which states: "Should the Declarant or the Association employ legal counsel to enforce any of the [subdivision's governing documents], all costs incurred in such enforcement, including court costs and reasonable attorney's fees, shall be paid by the violating Owner." [ROA 082.]

McFarland does not have standing/authority to assert his counterclaim on behalf of the HOA because he did not have approval from the Board or the HOA members. Nor is the HOA a party seeking attorney's fees in this action. In the alternative, McFarland argues that he was a Developer and/or Declarant and is entitled to attorney's fees for asserting his counterclaim. Beyond the fact that McFarland did not prove that Hannemann breached or violated any HOA

covenants or restrictions, the Trial Court correctly rejected McFarland's argument because he is not a "Developer" or a "Declarant" under the terms of the HOA documents.

In the original Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions, recorded on October 8, 2002, the "owners" were identified as John R. Payne, Scott S. Drummond, LowCountry Signature Homes, Payne Homes, and The Village Development Corporation. [ROA 381; Defendant SJM Ex. #3.] An Amendment to the Declaration was recorded on November 26, 2002, and in the interim from the filing of the original Declaration, McFarland and his wife had purchased the first lot, and thus, they were identified as "owners." [ROA 412; Defendant SJM Ex. #4.] However, McFarland was never identified as a "Developer" or a "Declarant."

The HOA documents establish, beyond contravention, that Oak Village Development was designated as the "Developer" in both the original and amended Declaration of Covenants. [Id.] Oak Village Development also is identified as the "Declarant" in the HOA Articles. [ROA 056.] Likewise, the HOA By-Laws clearly states: "The developer of this Subdivision is the Declarant, Oak Village Development, LLC, referred to as 'Declarant.'" [ROA 065.]

**III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ITS CONSIDERATION OF ARGUMENTS AND DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED BY MCFARLAND AFTER THE MOTION HEARING.**

As noted above, McFarland moved for summary judgment in August 2018, and Hannemann moved for summary judgment in April 2019. More than a year passed by the time those motions came before the Trial Court for hearing on June 16, 2020. Both parties had fully briefed their issues and submitted documents in support of their arguments. The Trial Court heard extensive argument on the motions, and the Trial Court ruled at the conclusion of the hearing with directions to Hannemann's counsel to submit a proposed order by July 13, 2020 after allowing McFarland's counsel to review it. [ROA 277-278, 304-305; Tr. 155-56, 182-83.] After providing

an advance draft to McFarland's counsel as instructed, Hannemann's counsel submitted the proposed order electronically at 10:41am on July 13, 2020. [ROA 807; See Docket sheet.] Less than two hours later, at 12:02pm on July 13, 2020, McFarland filed a supplemental memorandum with additional documents. [ROA 563.] McFarland then submitted a revised supplemental filing the next day. [ROA 618.]

In the order, as signed and filed on August 13, 2020, the Trial Court addressed this supplemental filing: "The Defendant [McFarland] filed a post hearing supplemental memorandum with additional evidentiary matters. For two reasons, I find these additional matters supplementing the record to lack a requisite basis. First, the records Defendant files come too late. Secondly, were these records timely, they are not relevant to the issues before me." [ROA 014; 8/13/20 Order p. 3 n. 3.]

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence and arguments presented after a motion for summary judgment has been heard is reviewed on appeal for abuse of discretion. Black v. Lexington Sch. Dist. No. 2, 327 S.C. 55, 60, 488 S.E.2d 327, 329 (1997). On review of a trial court's exclusion of evidence, the appellant must show both the error of the ruling and resulting prejudice. Recco Tape & Label Co. v. Barfield, 312 S.C. 214, 216, 439 S.E.2d 838, 840 (1994). The appellant must show that the proffered evidence was relevant and even if relevant, exclusion is harmless if evidence it is merely cumulative to other admitted evidence. *Id.*

McFarland argues on appeal that the supplemental filings were not late because the Trial Court gave permission for post-hearing submissions. Whatever perception the Defendant's counsel might have had about having been granted permission to submit additional argument and evidence after the hearing, McFarland cannot point to any specific grant of a specific time for such submissions. Under the circumstances, the Trial Court was reasonable in finding that the

submission was not timely when it was made almost four weeks after the hearing and after the submission of a proposed order by Hannemann. Such finding of untimeliness was reasonable particularly where each and all of the documents were already in existence at the time of the hearing and no rational explanation was offered for the delay. In any event, even if the supplemental arguments and evidence arguably were timely, the Trial Court did, in fact, consider the evidence and found that those documents were not relevant. As discussed below, a review of the supplemental materials demonstrates that the documents were irrelevant or cumulative. Accordingly, any error in excluding the supplemental materials was not prejudicial to warrant reversing the Trial Court's rulings.

Supplemental Exhibit 18 is Judge Goodstein's order of March 15, 2015, in the 2012 Lawsuit, granting summary judgment to Hannemann and Morris on the HOA claims. [ROA 572.] Supplemental Exhibit 23 includes Judge Goodstein's order of the same date in that 2012 Lawsuit litigation granting summary judgment to the HOA on Hannemann/Morris' counterclaims for an accounting and conversion. [ROA 611.] The Court of Appeals' decision affirming the summary judgment granted to Hannemann and Morris had already been submitted by McFarland with his motion for summary judgment. [ROA 484; Def. SJM Ex. 17.] As discussed above, in the 2012 Lawsuit, the Court of Appeals held that the HOA lacked standing based on lack of HOA Board approval because McFarland was statutorily prohibited from acting for the Board as a single director. Accordingly, this supplemental "evidence" of Judge Goodstein's trial court order was superfluous and irrelevant. Likewise, Judge Goodstein's separate order granting summary judgment against Hannemann (and Morris) in the 2012 Lawsuit is irrelevant to the issues raised in this action as to Hannemann's status as HOA President.

Supplemental Exhibit 19 is a collection of correspondence and other documents about McFarland's objections to Hannemann/Morris' lack of good standing to call HOA meetings and/or serve as a directors/officers. [ROA 580-593.] Again, these documents are irrelevant or cumulative to the undisputed facts upon which the Trial Court relied to find that McFarland's objections to the 2015 meeting were meaningless where the Board never voted to suspend Hannemann/Morris' voting rights, and McFarland never appeared at any of the HOA member meeting to interpose his accusations that they were not in good standing.

Supplemental Exhibit 20 includes a copy of the deed evidencing McFarland's purchase of his lot and a letter from Mrs. McFarland to the IRS about HOA tax returns for 2005-2007. [ROA 594.] These documents are wholly irrelevant to his claim that he is a "declarant" or a "developer" entitled to attorneys fees under the HOA governing documents.

Supplemental Exhibit 21 contains emails with the property manager that Mrs. McFarland hired and correspondence from Hannemann and Morris to McFarland giving notice of a HOA Board meeting for June 17, 2013. [ROA 599.] To the extent that McFarland argues that these show some antagonism on the part of Hannemann and Morris, they are not relevant in the face of the irrefutable fact that McFarland never pursued any process afforded under the HOA governing documents to prove his accusations and have them removed from the Board or to suspend their voting rights.

Supplemental Exhibit 22 is comprised of miscellaneous letters to HOA members from Hannemann (and/or the other Board members) spanning a time from April 2015 to February 2019. [ROA 604.] Those documents generally evidence the efforts to move forward with HOA business, and they are either irrelevant or cumulative to the other materials submitted by the parties. They

do not provide any basis for sustaining McFarland's contentions that Hannemann was not eligible to hold a position of leadership in the HOA.

Supplemental Exhibit 23 contains a series of correspondence from McFarland – purportedly in his capacity as the HOA President -- to the HOA members regarding assessments, budgets and financial issues for years 2017/2018, 2018/2019, 2019/2020, and 2020/2021. [ROA 611.] These materials are cumulative and redundant to the undisputed general fact that McFarland continued to unilaterally issue assessments and collect payments from other HOA members without authority after he had been removed as HOA President in 2012 (and after new directors and officers were elected in 2015 and 2016). Nothing in these documents can rebut the fact that Hannemann's voting rights have never been suspended in accordance with any legitimate process provided in the HOA governing documents.

**IV. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS TO REVIEW THE TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER.**

As noted above in the Statement of the Case, the Trial Court granted a temporary restraining order to preserve the status quo while the Court was considering the summary judgment motions. [ROA 003; Order, filed 6/11/19.] The Trial Court's order suspended By-Laws §3(b) and prohibited the parties from noticing special HOA meetings during the pendency of the litigation. McFarland has appealed from the TRO and argues that the Trial Court did not have personal jurisdiction over the other five HOA members to prohibit them from exercising their rights to call a special HOA member meeting under By-Laws § 3(b).

**A. The appeal from the TRO is now moot since a final order has been issued on the merits.**

A temporary injunction expires upon entry of a final order on the merits and any challenges to a temporary injunction are moot:

The trial judge's [final] Order renders this case nonjusticiable because any decision by this Court will not have a practical legal effect on the temporary injunction. The sole object of a temporary injunction is to preserve the subject of the controversy in its condition at the time of the order until opportunity is offered for full and deliberate trial investigation. Temporary injunctions are interlocutory, tentative, and impermanent and are superseded by the final judgment rendered on the merits. Thus, temporary injunctions 'remain in force only until, and expire upon, the entry of the final judgment and are not enforceable after the final judgment has been entered.'

Curtis v. State, 345 S.C. 557, 569, 549 S.E.2d 591, 597 (2001) (citations omitted). In this case, the Trial Court affirmatively dissolved the TRO in his final order. Accordingly, there is no justiciable issue before the Court regarding the TRO.

**B. McFarland does not have standing to appeal from the TRO on behalf of HOA members who are not parties to this action.**

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